
Guests
Mollie Messenger, Melissa Melko, Marty Meriwether, Gail and Jim Harris, Nancy Kaslolansky

1. Pledge/Call to Order/Roll Call

Minutes:
Chairman David Morse opened the meeting at 6:00 pm with the Pledge of Allegiance. The Clerk
then took roll call. All present.

2. Prior Minutes

Minutes:
A motion by Theron Seeley seconded by David Smith to adopt the minutes as written was
adopted by vote
Vote results:
Ayes: 5 / Nays: 0

3. New Business
4. Old Business

a. Solar Farm Wixon Road

Minutes:
Chairman Morse stated that there was no new business before the board, but there was old
business regarding the solar farm on Wixon Road. Chairman Morse reminded the public
that the Public Hearing was in July for this matter so there would be no public comment on
this matter at this meeting. He reiterated that the applicant was looking for an Area
Variance for setbacks and tree replacement. There was a question on how much the
applicant would lose on the solar field if the variance was not granted. Thereon Seeley
stated that on August 2, 2024 the applicant had sent a letter that shows that the project
would do better without the variance. The project would generate 1.5 MW with the variance
and 2.5 MW without the variance. Molly Messenger clarified that the information was
backwards on the letter. This was a typo. This was sent in the site plan as well. Vice Chair
Seeley also noted the memorandum from Hodgson and Russ. Ms. Messenger stated that
that had been requested by the board at the last meeting. Vice Chair Seeley stated that the
letter was quoting Consolidated Edison and Company of NY and Hoffman- and clarified that
he is not a lawyer- but he does work with contracts for a living, the letter seems to indicate
that this was for an existing site; where this request is a brand new site. He then stated that

Town of Campbell, NY
ZBA Meeting

Minutes
Tuesday, September 17, 2024 at 6:00 pm

Attendees: Chairman David Morse, Vice Chair Theron Seeley, Members
Dave Smith, Anthony Creaton, Steve Peck, Secretary Michelle Seeley,

Zoning Officer Thomas Hargrave

Page 1



he was not stopping them from building a new project, so he did not see where that was
relevant. The essential services offer and taking in the regulations, seems all economic.
The more you put in the more the project makes, correct? There would be no increase in
cost of construction if the variance was not granted. Ms. Messenger stated the larger
project would cost more due to material prices. Vice Chair Seeley clarified that to build
inside the setbacks there is nothing that would prevent construction. Mollie Messenger
clarified that the project could be built within the setbacks but that would leave a MW on the
system for another solar project to be developed. Which was discussed at the last meeting.
which is why they try to maximize the project at the site they are on. It is not economical to
to then and go try to encumber another property in order to build the 1 MW project, they try
to maximize the site they are on, so they are not trying to go across the street to try to
encumber another property to expand the project. Vice Chair Seeley stated that it is up to
her planning and economic teams to find the best sites to put the projects on and comply.
Chairman Morse asked if there was anything new that the applicant wanted to add. Was
there any new information they wanted to tell the board. Ms. Messenger stated that at the
last meeting they had discussed a couple of items and that they had provided the
landscaping plan to the board, the company has been working with the neighbors to make
sure they could make them ok with the Area Variance that they have requested. The new
Site Plan that they sent has the five Maple trees that they would put on the Harris' property,
along with working with them to have a parking license to park on the property. They have
been working with the neighbors to make it the best project for them that it could be, and to
not encumber their property to where they could not enjoy it. They have also talked with the
fire department, Jordan Frost, They also discussed that they would have meetings to
discuss what would be needed and how they could help them if the site plan is approved.
Chairman Morse asked if the company was willing to do anything financial for the fire
company. Mollie Messenger stated that they had discussed that with them and the need for
a new ATV. Chairman Morse asked if they were willing to do any funding for those needs.
Ms. Messenger said they cant technically couldn't do anything until this went through. Vice
Chair Seeley said they could not say whether they were or were not able to do do that. Ms.
Messenger stated that there had been an email sent to Jordon Frost about it. Chairman
Morse asked if anyone else had questions or concerns. Vice Chair Seeley stated that his
hang up was the size of the variance that they were looking for, it's almost 70% at one
point. The Area Variance that was being sought was substantial. He stated that he was
having a hard time trying to figure out why the property was selected if such a large setback
variance would be needed. If that is what makes the property viable, even if the numbers
are reversed, Chairman Morse agreed. Ms. Messenger stated that it is a longer process
which was discussed at a previous meeting about how the properties are selected. Based
on where they are located on the system. Vice Chair Seeley stated that a 20% variance
would make sense but that an almost 70% variance is pretty large. Ms. Messenger agreed
that in the one area there was a larger variance needed. Vice Chair Seeley pointed out that
there was a neighbor right there. Chairman Morse stated that; " the hang up is that those
setbacks were put in the zoning law for the problem that is being created at this time, it is to
protect the neighbors. We are not here to throw the Town under the bus and we are not

Page 2



here to throw you under the bus either. But there is a reason that those laws were written in
the first place". Ms. Messenger agreed, and stated that is why they were working hard with
the neighbors so they could try to make some concessions to make it work for everyone.
Vice Chair Seeley stated that with NYS clean air act there was a 2030 and 2050 deadline to
have these projects up and running. He mentioned that by 2030 there needed to be 20 GW
on the grid of renewable energy. Mollie Messenger stated that it was a substantial goal.
Vice Chair Seeley mentioned the solar farm that is being built in Savona. He stated that
Campbell cant take all of the solar farms for the whole state. He then reiterated that the
board had no interest in stopping the projects, as long as they were in compliance with the
Town Zoning Law. Delaware River could definitely have the solar project on Wixon Road.
He then verified with Mollie Messenger that the numbers were reversed in the letter, and
that they were not the actual numbers. Ms. Messenger stated that they were definitely
reversed. She then showed the board the site plan with the actual numbers and with the
projected amount of panels. Chairman Morse Asked the Board if they were ready to go
through the questions provided by the State for an AREA Variance. The Board agreed and
then went through the Area Variance Findings & Decision paperwork, provided by the state.
1. Whether undesirable change would be produced in character of neighborhood or a
detriment to nearby properties: David Smith stated that he felt there would be an
undesirable change. Theron Seeley stated that there would be an undesirable change
whether or not the variance was granted. With the variance the project would be a lot closer
to the property lines of the neighbors. Chairman Morse asked the Board if they all agreed
on question 1 being answered in the affirmative. All of the Board members agreed that this
was a given, based on the affect on the neighbors. and it was determined that this would
cause an undesirable change would be produced in character of neighborhood. 2. Whether
benefit sought by applicant can be achieved by a feasible alternative to the variance:
Theron Seeley stated that the site property is not feasible at this stage. Dave Smith stated
that they could build a different project. David Morse stated that it could be downsized, as
far as not trying to use everything that is available on that grid on that one property. The
Clerk questioned if the board thought the answer was yes . They replied in the affirmative
Theron Seeley stated that there was still a benefit to the property without the variance. The
clerk polled the Board and it was determined that the project would lose 1 MW if built within
the Zoning Law set back requirements. 3. Whether the requested variance is substantial:
Theron Seeley stated that at one point the applicant is looking for almost a 70% reduction,
the board agreed that that was a substantial request. The reasons are a 61.8% relief a
44.6% relief and a 51.6 % relief at the final setback request. 4. Would the variance have an
adverse impact on the physical or environmental conditions in the neighborhood: Vice Chair
Seeley felt that that was a tricky question, even if they built within the set backs, they would
be removing and cutting trees. He also stated that it would not change the outcome whether
or not the variance was granted. David Smith said in his opinion it was a no. Chairman
Morse asked if every one agreed that the answer was no. The Board agreed, this answer
was a no. 5. Whether the alleged difficulty was self-created: David smith asked the
applicant if they were aware of the statues before the project began. Mrs. Messenger stated
that they had the plan before the board the same way the whole time. David Smith clarified

Page 3



that the applicant knew that the setback requirement was 100' when they applied. Ms.
Messenger stated that they had known the statute and had always planned to expand past
the required setbacks to fill the MW capacity. David Smith said that he would say yes that
this was self created. the rest of the board agreed. The Clerk then polled the board, the
board felt unanimously that this was a self created hardship. Chairman Smith then called
into question whether (1) DOES NOT Outweigh the Detriment to the Neighborhood or
Community. Or (2) the benefit to the applicant DOES Outweigh the Detriment to the
Neighborhood or Community. Theron Seeley mentioned that this was a tricky determination
based on the fact that this is a utility and they are still building it, it doesn't hurt. But from the
public hearing that was held there were some pretty upset neighbors, so are the neighbors
the public?
David Smith said they would be considered the neighborhood. Chairman Morse agreed that
they would be the community. David Morse stated that he was in favor of denial due to the
amount of setback relief being requested. He then stated that if it were a setback of 20% he
could deal with that. The proposed landscaping does not seem to be an issue as he didn't
think any of the board members had an issue with the trees and replacement plan. The
request is a big change to what the Town Law is, there are still options, the project could
still be done with in the setbacks. It is not that the project CANT be done it is a matter of the
applicant not WANTING to do a smaller project because of the output. Mollie Messenger
stated that the issue that remained was that there is still an available MW on the circuit .
What would happen is that the town would end up with another solar field on the circuit. She
mentioned that it makes a difference that they talk about not wanting solar fields all over
town, so they were trying to maximize the amount in one location. This would prevent
smaller projects being spread out. In her opinion it is more desirable to have everything in
one location. Steve Peck asked the applicant why they would pick a spot that they knew
going in would not fit the requirements. Theron Seeley stated that there had to be more
spots this could have been placed. Mollie Messenger stated that it was based on where the
substation was located. When they look at properties they have to find an owner that wants
to build solar and that has to be in a location that fits on the substation. All solar companies
do this. First you have to find a substation with available space then you move to locations
and people willing to allow the projects to be built, and lots that will meet the size
requirements. Several pieces need to fit together to make it work. The applicant did look for
other locations, there is one across the street from the Meads Creek project that they
discussed doing with the land owner. Mr. Snyder is interested in putting 1-2 MW on his
property, but then you would have 2 solar fields across from each other, instead of spread
out. There is a benefit to having it all in one spot, the reason it has to be that property is that
the owner is a willing participant and it is on the substation. That is what it comes down to.
Steve Peck said it is just not a big enough property. Ms. Messenger said it is a
compellation of a few different things, she has tried to work with the neighbors to try to
make them happy. The Harris' have communicated with them as far as being able to use
the field for their own parking, which the company is fine with. They want all of the
neighbors to be able to participate, it is good for the community and gives back needed
electricity. So there is a lot of benefit to the town. They have not even gotten into the Close

Page 4



Community Benefits with the Supervisor, Jeff Horton. There are also tax benefits, there are
payments made to the town that can be used for a lot of programs. Steve Peck questioned
if the energy was really needed. Theron Seeley said that according to the Clean Air Act it is.
Mollie Messenger everything is going more and more towards it. Steven Peck asked about
in terms of a bigger area rather than our town. Mollie Messenger said yes. She stated that
she was trying to offer as much information to the Town as she could. She realizes this is a
difficult decision and that all the information needed to be weighed. She would hate to see
another site plan come through to add more farms. Vice Chair Seeley stated that this is
exactly his concern, this is the first solar project , going in within the town limits and the
applicant is asking for a 70% reduction in the setbacks. Mollie Messenger said it is actually
the second one the one on Meads Creek was approved by the Planning Board. This project
is twice the size as the Wixon Road Project. Anthony Creaton asked if it had needed a
variance. Ms. Messenger said no. Theron Seeley made the statement that this is the first
variance request before the board. David Morse pointed out that this would set a standard
going forward. He pointed out that even in the applicant own paperwork they have sited
other instances where they have taken other towns to court because another company had
done a project similar to what you were requesting. He then clarified where the information
came from. Theron reminded him that was in their packets. Chairman Morse stated that
there are lawsuits that once this is done for one company it opens a door for other
companies to sue if not granted the same variance. No one wants to go to court. Ms.
Messenger stated that nobody wants to get to a court case. They are trying to put in the
best possible project for the town and work with the neighbors. They would like to employ
some of the neighbors to maintain the property. Work with the Fire Department to get them
what they need. They also will do a host agreement with the town and would pay taxes
more than what is being paid right now. So it is a benefit to the town as far as what the solar
field can actually give back to the community. David Morse asked if there was a dollar
amount that the town could expect in taxes? Theron Seeley said that didn't apply to the
matter before the board. Dave Morse agreed that the decision could not be made on that.
Theron Seeley stated that he understood the benefits that the applicant described. Anthony
Creaton asked if there would be more of a benefit to the town with the 2.5 MW project than
the 1 MW project. Theron Seeley stated the bigger the power plant the bigger the output.
Anthony Creaton stated that there would be more power but that wasn't coming directly to
the town. Mollie Messenger stated that it goes directly to the substation, and goes to first
need. She also explained that 7.5 MW would be subject to tax taxed instead of the 6.5 MW
without the variance. Along with negotiated agreements. Tax wise there are quite a few
benefits. This is not a PIOLT program. The Host agreement would benefit the town but that
money could be used for different organizations. Theron Seeley stated that taxes could not
be used to make a determination, David Morse agreed. Theron Seeley said solar should be
easy, he spent most of his career in nuclear power and that is harder, Ms. Messenger said
that is the next thing coming. Theron Seeley made the statement that it is clean energy and
is in fact cleaner than solar. Ms. Messenger stated that the standard that was being
reviewed is the state standard. Hodgson and Russ sent a document on the Public Utility
Standard which is how they want this to be reviewed. She stated that this was the standard

Page 5



that the State wanted these applications to be reviewed. David Morse commented that this
law was put in place specifically for Solar projects. The applicant argued that this could still
be viewed through the Public Utility standard. David Morse stated that he didn't see how
you could vary from a standard that was written specifically for solar projects.
Theron Seeley stated that what they were reviewing is that the variance requested be
weighed against the health, safety, and general welfare of the community . He then went
through the 5 questions that were asked in the findings and decision questionnaire. Dave
Morse stated that based on the information before the board he still feels like it should be
denied. Theron Seeley said to call for a vote. A motion by Dave Morse to deny the
requested variance based on the merits of the findings, that the requested variance 1)
would cause an undesirable change in the character of the neighborhood or a determent to
the nearby properties. 2)there are other feasible alternatives to achieve the variance. 3) was
a substantial request. 5) And that the alleged difficulty was self created . Was seconded by
Dave Smith. The clerk then took a roll call vote. Peck; NAY Seeley: NAY Smith: NAY
Creaton: NAY Morse :NAY Resulting in a determination that the benefit to the applicant
DOES NOT Outweigh the Detriment to the Neighborhood or Community.
Mollie Messenger stated that at the last meeting the Chairman had said that the project
would be approved one way or another. Anthony Creaton said that actually Theron Seeley
stated that Solar was coming in one way or another. Theron Seeley clarified that he had told
an audience member that there would be a solar farm on that field whether or not the
variance was granted it was about the size of the project. The applicant asked if they were
to come back to the board with an amended application, what would be a better number.
The board said NO MORE than 25%. Mollie Messenger said she would take that number
back to Delaware River and discuss it with them. She then asked the clerk if there were a
determination that she could take with her or if they would need to wait. The Clerk had the
Chairman sign the preliminary determination and made a copy for the applicant.
Vote results:
Ayes: 5 / Nays: 0

5. Other Business Before the Board
6. Adjournmenrt

Minutes:
Upon Motion by Dave Smith seconded by Anthony Creaton the meeting was closed at 6:50 pm
Vote results:
Ayes: 5 / Nays: 0

Contact: Michelle Seeley (Townclerk@campbellny.com 6075278244) | Minutes published on 10/17/2024, adopted on
10/15/2024

Page 6


	ZBA Meeting

